THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

RAMSEY R. SHABEEB,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR CLARK COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

DAVID L. DONNAN Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The court erred when if affirmed the validity of a search warrant that did not establish a nexus of criminal activity between the place to be searched and the item to be seized.
- 2. The sentencing court erred, in the absence of substantial evidence in the record, by entering a finding "That the defendant is presently indigent but is anticipated to be able to pay financial obligations in the future. RCW 9.94A.753." CP 78.
- 3. The sentencing court erred when it imposed \$3,525 in discretionary legal financial obligations (LFOs) without conducting the statutorily mandated inquiry regarding Mr. Shabeeb's present or future ability to pay.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Whether the trial court erred when it affirmed the validity of a search warrant when 1) the affiant listed a backpack exchange between Mr. Shabeeb and another individual as indicative of probable cause that illicit material would be found in Mr. Shabeeb's car; 2) a dog sniff was found to contribute to probable cause to search Mr. Shabeeb's vehicle, but the dog was trained to alert to legal substances; 3) Mr. Shabeeb's vehicle was not identified on the date of the alleged drug buy; 4) the affiant neither directly observed the informant purchase heroin from Mr. Shabeeb

nor pointed to any successful past convictions based on the informant's information; and 5) the search warrant mentions many items that may be seized from Mr. Shabeeb's vehicle, but makes no mention of the backpack?

- 2. RCW 10.01.160(3) requires the record reflect that the sentencing judge made an individualized inquiry into the defendant's current and future ability to pay before the court imposes Legal Financial Obligations (LFOs). Where no such inquiry was conducted, but the judgment includes a boilerplate finding that "the defendant is presently indigent but is anticipated to be able to pay financial obligations in the future," must that finding be stricken?
- 3. Where the sentencing court fails to conduct an individualized inquiry into the defendant's current and future ability to pay LFOs, should the obligations be stricken, or the case remanded for further proceedings as necessary to comply with the statutory requirements?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 16, 2014, Detective Robert Latter arrested Ramsey

Shabeeb for the delivery of a controlled substance in February of that year.

CP 12. During a search incident to arrest, heroin was found in Mr.

Shabeeb's pocket. *Id.* at 13. Detective Ramsey asked Mr. Shabeeb for permission to search the vehicle he had been driving, but Mr. Shabeeb

declined whereupon the vehicle was seized and towed to a police warehouse. *Id*.

Probable cause to arrest was purportedly based on a prior "controlled buy" attributed to Mr. Shabeeb two months earlier. *Id.* Officer Latter reported he had driven an informant to a residence in Battle Ground, to purchase heroin from a person previously identified as Mr. Shabeeb. *Id.* at 14. The informant returned to the detective with a small amount of heroin. *Id.* Nothing in the affidavit, however, indicates that Mr. Shabeeb resides in the home where the heroin was purchased. *Id.* at 9-17. Additionally, while surveillance units observed the informant walk to the residence, none of the units observed the informant purchase narcotics from Mr. Shabeeb. *Id.* at 14. Furthermore, no mention of Mr. Shabeeb's vehicle is made in the portion of the affidavit concerning the drug buy. *Id.* at 13-14.

Detective Latter deemed the informant reliable based on a previous "reliability buy" of heroin that occurred sometime between February 8, 2014 and February 21, 2014. *Id.* at 14. Nothing in the affidavit indicates, however, that the informant's purchases on behalf of the police department have led to any successful prosecutions. *Id.* at 14-15.

On the date of Mr. Shabeeb's arrest, Detective Latter and others assigned to his task force surveilled Mr. Shabeeb. *Id.* at 12. They observed

Mr. Shabeeb park his vehicle at a local auto parts business. Shortly afterwards, a blue Ford Focus parked next to Mr. Shabeeb's car. *Id.* Mr. Shabeeb and a person in the Ford talked through the open windows of their cars for a time. Mr. Shabeeb exited his vehicle and retrieved a backpack from the other car's trunk which he placed in his own trunk. *Id.* The Ford left, and Mr. Shabeeb entered the auto parts store. *Id.* Later, he returned to his car and worked on its engine. *Id.*

Mr. Shabeeb re-entered the auto parts store. *Id.* at 13. While he was inside, the Ford Focus again parked next to Mr. Shabeeb's vehicle. *Id.* Mr. Shabeeb left the store, entered his vehicle, and drove away from the parking lot. *Id.*

According to Detective Latter, Mr. Shabeeb drove slowly past his vehicle and seemed to stare inside. *Id.* at 13. Later, Mr. Shabeeb made a U-turn and drove to the parking lot where Detective Latter was parked. *Id.* Fearing that Mr. Shabeeb knew he was being watched, Detective Latter decided to arrest him for the earlier drug buy. *Id.*

At the warehouse where police towed Mr. Shabeeb's car, Trooper Charles Gardiner had his K-9 partner, Corbin, search outside of Mr. Shabeeb's vehicle. *Id.* Trooper Gardiner relayed that Corbin alerted to the presence of narcotics in the rear bumper seam on the driver's side. *Id.* Among the narcotics Corbin is trained to sniff are cocaine, crack,

methamphetamine, and marijuana. *Id.* at 11. However, at the time of Corbin's alert, possession of marijuana was legal in Washington.

Detective Latter filed an affidavit for a warrant to search Mr. Shabeeb's vehicle on April 18, 2014. *Id.* at 17. Judge Kelly Ostler issued the search warrant. *Id.* at 19. Inside the vehicle, Detective Latter seized a cell phone and a backpack. *Id.* at 20. The backpack had a padlock, which Detective Latter cut off. *Id.* Inside the backpack, he found Oxycodone, Suboxone, and Buprenorphine, all classified as Schedule III drugs. *Id.* at 65. Mr. Carter was charged with one count of possession of a controlled substance with intent to deliver. *Id.*

Mr. Shabeeb moved to suppress all evidence seized based on the search warrant. CP 5-20, 51-58, 61-63. Judge Scott Collier denied the motion. CP 49-50. Following a stipulated facts trial, Judge Collier found Mr. Shabeeb guilty of possession with intent to deliver a schedule III narcotic. CP 64-70. Mr. Shabeeb was sentenced under the Residential Chemical Dependency Treatment-based Alternative to 3 to 6 months in a residential chemical dependency treatment facility and serve 24 months in community custody. CP 79. At sentencing, no inquiry was made regarding Mr. Shabeeb's ability to pay the legal financial obligations, but his Judgment and Sentence contains boilerplate language indicating such

¹ See RCW 69.50.413.

an inquiry was made. CP 78. Although Mr. Shabeeb was deemed indigent prior to trial, he was ordered to pay \$4,125 in fines, costs and fees. CP 80-81.

D. ARGUMENT

- 1. THE COURT SHOULD REVERSE THE TRIAL COURT'S RULING FINDING THE SEARCH WARRANT LAWFUL BECAUSE THE STATE POSSESSED INSUFFICENT PROBABLE CAUSE LINKING MR. SHABEEB'S ALLEGED DISTRIBUTION OF NARCOTICS TO THE SEARCHED VEHICLE.
 - a. A search warrant should only be issued upon a showing of probable cause that the defendant is involved in criminal activity and that evidence of the criminal activity will be found within the place to be searched.

The Fourth Amendment protects people from unreasonable searches and seizures. U.S. Const. amend. IV. Article 1, section 7 of the Washington Constitution further narrows the State's authority to search, ensuring that "no person shall be disturbed in his private affairs, or his home invaded, without authority of law." Const. art. I, § 7. Because Washington's constitution provides greater protections of individual privacy, when presented with potential violations under the state and federal constitutions, Washington courts first examine the state law challenges. *State v. VanNess*, 186 Wn.App. 148, 155, 344 P.3d 713 (2015). The court determines if the challenged state act involved a

disturbance of private affairs and then asks whether the law justifies the intrusion. *Id*.

A search warrant should be issued only if the affiant shows probable cause that the defendant is involved in criminal activity and that evidence of the criminal activity will be found in the place to be searched. *State v. Neth*, 165 Wn.2d 177, 182, 196 P.3d 658 (2008). The record must show objective criteria going beyond the personal beliefs and suspicions of the applicants for the warrant. *State v. Thein*, 138 Wn.2d 133, 147, 977 P.2d 582 (1999) (citing *State v. Patterson*, 83 Wn.2d 49, 52, 515 P.2d 496 (1973). Furthermore, the magistrate may not issue a search warrant where the affidavit contains no facts to support the issuance of the warrant. *State v. Lyons*, 174 Wn.2d 354, 364, 273 P.3d 314 (2012).

"The court reviews de novo a trial court's assessment of a magistrate's probable cause determination when issuing a search warrant." *VanNess*, 186 Wn.App. at 154.

b. The search affidavit was insufficient because the behavior Detective Latter observed between Mr. Shabeeb and the driver of the Ford Focus did not provide reasonable suspicion that drugs would be found in Mr. Shabeeb's vehicle.

Probable cause requires a nexus between the items to be seized and the place to be searched. *State v. Goble*, 88 Wn.App. 503, 511, 945 P.2d 263 (1997). Because Mr. Shabeeb's conduct on the date of his arrest was

innocuous and did not establish a foundation of probable cause that drugs would be found within the vehicle, Detective Latter did not establish a nexus between the item to be seized and the place to be searched.

Compare State v. Neth, where a trooper stopped the defendant for speeding. The defendant was driving with his girlfriend and a dog. 165 Wn.2d at 179. The trooper relayed that the defendant appeared stressed, yelled at the dog, and expressed anger. *Id*. When the trooper asked the defendant for identification, registration, and proof of insurance, the defendant replied he was not carrying any of these items. *Id.* The trooper looked up the defendant's name and date of birth, which showed he had an outstanding warrant for driving with a suspended license and failing to appear in court. Id. at 180. The trooper handcuffed the defendant, searched him, and found several unused clear plastic baggies in his coat pocket. *Id.* The trooper told the defendant he was going to search the car and asked if there was anything he should know about inside the car. *Id.* The defendant replied there was between \$2,500 and \$3,500 in cash stowed in the car for the purpose of paying rent on his home. *Id.* Additionally, the defendant's girlfriend made some comments that the trooper interpreted as contradictory to the defendant's assertions. Id.

While the trooper was writing citations, a drug dog walked around the defendant's car and alerted three times to the presence of narcotics. *Id*.

When the defendant did not consent to further search of his vehicle, the trooper impounded the car and filed an affidavit for a search warrant. *Id*. The affidavit recounted all of previously stated facts, but also stated that the defendant is a convicted felon, having previously convicted of delivering heroin. *Id*. at 183.

The magistrate struck the dog sniff from the probable cause determination, but found that the other circumstances established probable cause to issue a warrant. *Id.* at 181. However, the Washington Supreme Court reversed the conviction, finding that although the facts taken together were odd, all of the circumstances were consistent with legal activity and did not establish a nexus between the criminal activity and the defendant's car. *Id.* at 184-86.

Similarly, in the instant case, Mr. Shabeeb's exchange with the individual in the Ford Focus was consistent with legal activity, therefore detracting from any potential suspicion that Mr. Shabeeb's vehicle contained narcotics. For example, like the plastic baggies in *Neth*, Judge Collier deemed Mr. Shabeeb's backpack (and its correlating exchange between Mr. Shabeeb and the driver of the Ford Focus) as evidence of criminal activity. CP 50. However, innocuous conduct that is equally consistent with lawful and unlawful activity does not constitute probable cause to search. 165 Wn.2d at 185. Backpack exchanges between

individuals are equally consistent with lawful conduct, such as returning a backpack to a friend who left their backpack at your home. Furthermore, the location of the backpack exchange (an auto parts shop) lends more support towards an innocent exchange among friends, such as exchanging tools or other materials used to repair cars.

Additionally, the circumstances in the instant case are far more innocuous than the circumstances in *Neth*. Backpacks do not carry the same criminal undertones that plastic baggies possess, having been described as "the hallmark of an illicit drug exchange." *Neth*, 165 Wn.2d at 185 (citing *People v. McRay*, 416 N.E.2d 1015 (N.Y. 1980)). Moreover, entering and exiting an auto shop and working on one's car engine is certainly consistent with legal activity.

Additionally, although Detective Latter cited Mr. Shabeeb's criminal history in his affidavit for a search warrant, Mr. Shabeeb's criminal history does not lend itself to probable cause to possession and/or distribution of narcotics. Mr. Shabeeb's criminal record is limited to driving with a suspended license and disorderly conduct, while the defendant in *Neth* possessed a criminal record for possession of heroin. "Some factual similarity between the past crime and the currently charged offense must be shown before the criminal history can significantly

contribute to probable cause." *Neth*, 165 Wn.2d at 186. Here, no such similarities exist.

c. The dog sniff of a K-9 that was trained to detect marijuana, a substance that was legal in Washington State at the time of the drug sniff, fails to establish probable cause.

Because Corbin, the drug sniffing K-9, was trained to alert to marijuana, a legal substance, the dog's drug sniff does not produce probable cause that Mr. Shabeeb's vehicle contained illicit narcotics.² One of the necessary elements to establish probable cause is whether a reasonable person, given the evidence presented, would believe that the item sought is *contraband*. *Goble*, 88 Wn.App. at 509 (emphasis added). Therefore, absent a sufficient basis in fact from which to conclude evidence of *illegal* activity will likely be found at the place to be searched, a reasonable nexus is not established as a matter of law. *Thein*, 138 Wn.2d at 147 (emphasis added).

Recognizing that K-9 searches involving dogs trained to sniff marijuana would detract from probable cause post-I-502, the Washington Association of Prosecuting Attorneys distributed a memorandum detailing how "I-502 will require officers to expand their investigations into

² While Corbin is trained to sniff cocaine, crack, methamphetamine, and marijuana, none of these substances were found inside Mr. Shabeeb's vehicle or backpack.

suspected VUCSA violations."³ The memorandum details two issues that present problems in establishing probable cause with K-9s trained to detect marijuana. Specifically, these concerns are

[c]urrently, canines are trained to detect five substances: marijuana, methamphetamine, heroin, crack cocaine, and cocaine. *The canines cannot communicate to their handler which of the five substances they have detected.*

The canines can detect *miniscule* amounts of the five substances. While they are trained using amounts ranging from trace to substantial, *the canines cannot communicate to their handler how much of the five substances are presence. Thus, a dog that alerts might be alerting to a legal quantity of marijuana.⁴*

After the passage of I-502, University of South Carolina law professor Seth Stoughton opined

[i]f a drug dog can reveal non-criminal information about a person, it may fundamentally change the Fourth Amendment character of police canine sniffs...If a drug dog could be hitting on a legal substance, courts could very well find that the alert itself does not establish probable cause.^[5]

To address these concerns, the Washington State Patrol and the Seattle Police Department are phasing out marijuana-trained dogs and are gradually replacing them with dogs that can only alert to illegal narcotics.⁶

³ Memorandum from Pam Loginsky, Staff Attorney, Wash. Ass'n of Prosecuting Atty's, to Washington Prosecuting Attorneys, (Dec. 4, 2012) (available at https://fortress.wa.gov/cjtc/www/images/I-502%20and%20Canine%20Alerts.pdf).

⁴ *Id.* (emphasis added).

⁵ Jacob Sullum, *Does Legalization Make Marijuana-Detecting Dogs Obsolete*?, REASON (Jan. 19, 2015, 12:01 AM), http://reason.com/archives/2015/01/19/does-legalization-make-marijuana-detecti. (quoting Seth Stoughton).

⁶ *Id*.

Similar efforts are being undertaken in other states that legalized marijuana, like Oregon, Colorado, and Alaska.⁷

A dog that cannot distinguish between legal and illegal objects and cannot detect how much of a legal substance they smell does not form a lawful basis for probable cause. At the time of Mr. Shabeeb's arrest, Clark County police used Corbin, a K-9 trained to detect marijuana who could neither distinguish between drugs nor alert to specific quantities of marijuana. While some may argue that it is still illegal to possess marijuana beyond a certain amount and that this makes a marijuanasniffing K-9 search lawful, dogs are not able to indicate how much of this legal substance they smell. Furthermore, deeming the use of a dog that can detect legal as well as illegal substances as adding to probable cause would lead to absurd results. What if, for example, the dog was able to smell and alert to alcohol *and* methamphetamine?⁸ Would the dog's positive alert establish probable cause? What if the dog could smell and alert to heroin, crack, and plastic forks? Could that establish probable cause? Surely, the answer to these questions must be "no" to truly give meaning to the Fourth Amendment of the Constitution and article 1,

⁷ *Id.*; Jason Wilson, *Meet the Oregon Police Dogs who have a Big Drug Problem*, THE GUARDIAN (May 29, 2015, 9:51 AM), http://www.theguardian.com/society/2015/may/29/oregon-police-dogs-drug-problem-marijuana.

⁸ Assuming, of course, the subject of the search was over 21 years old.

section 7 of the Washington Constitution, which affords more privacy rights than the United States Constitution.

d. The search warrant was unlawful because the vehicle the search warrant authorized to search was not identified on the date of the informant's alleged drug buy from Mr. Shabeeb.

No one observed Mr. Shabeeb's vehicle on the earlier date of the alleged drug buy, further eroding any nexus between the narcotics the judge ordered for seizure and Mr. Shabeeb's car and any potential drugs the judge ordered to be seized. For example, in *Thein*, police officers executing a search warrant on an individual named Laurence McKone's home found several copies of money orders made out to the defendant. *Thein*, 138 Wn.2d at 136. At Mr. McKone's home, police also found over one half pound of marijuana and packaging materials associated with marijuana dealing. *Id.* Later, neighbors gave a rough description of Mr. Thein, and told police he provided marijuana to Mr. McKone. *Id.* at 137.

Based on the money orders found in Mr. McKone's home, information from Mr. McKone's neighbors relaying that Mr. Thein is a drug dealer, and the police officer's "experience and training" informing them that drugs would be found in the defendant's home, police officers

⁹ See State v. VanNess, 186 Wn.App. at 155 (stating that the Washington Constitution affords more privacy rights than the Federal Constitution).

sought a search warrant for Mr. Thein's home. *Id.* at 139. While a judge granted the search warrant, the Supreme Court reversed because the State did not adequately establish facts linking illegal activity to the defendant's home. *Id.* at 151.

Akin to the defendant in *Thein*, the police officers in the instant case did not establish a nexus between the item sought and the place to be searched. While Mr. Shabeeb was driving the vehicle at the time of arrest, and, like the defendant in *Thein*, some suspicion may have existed that Mr. Shabeeb sold drugs, Mr. Shabeeb's *vehicle* was nowhere to be seen at the time of the alleged drug deal. CP 13-14. While a nexus of criminal activity could exist between the drugs and the *home* where the alleged drug-buy occurred, no such connection can be drawn to the *vehicle* Mr. Shabeeb was driving at the time of his arrest.

Furthermore, similar to *Thein*, Detective Latter simply relied on his "experience and training" and his own incomplete observations to deduce that drugs would be found in Mr. Shabeeb's car. CP 15-16. Throughout the affidavit, Officer Latter details how his "experience and training" informed him that drugs will be found in various items likely to be found in Mr. Shabeeb's vehicle. *Id.* However,

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