NO. 47239-2-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

RAMSEY RAY SHABEEB, Appellant

FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR CLARK COUNTY CLARK COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CAUSE NO.14-1-00769-8

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Attorneys for Respondent:

ANTHONY F. GOLIK Prosecuting Attorney Clark County, Washington

AARON T. BARTLETT, WSBA #39710 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Clark County Prosecuting Attorney 1013 Franklin Street PO Box 5000 Vancouver WA 98666-5000 Telephone (360) 397-2261

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

ARGUMENT

As a preliminary matter, though Shabeeb filed a suppression motion below, he raises new theories and arguments for suppression that were not argued or briefed at the trial court level. Before the trial court, Shabeeb argued that the search warrant affidavit did not establish probable cause because the drug dog could have alerted to the presence of marijuana and that the affidavit did not contain sufficient facts to establish probable cause. CP 5-8; RP 1-21, 28-32.² Shabeeb now additionally argues that "the warrant did not sufficiently establish the informant's reliability" and that the warrant did not authorize the seizure and search of the backpack located in the vehicle's trunk. Br. of App. at 16-21.

The general rule is that an issue, theory, or argument not presented at trial will not be considered on appeal. RAP 2.5(a); *State v. Hayes*, 165 Wn.App. 507, 514, 265 P.3d 982 (2011) (citing *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 332–33, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995)). The theory of issue preservation by timely objection also "facilitates appellate review by ensuring that a complete record of the issues will be available, and prevents adversarial unfairness by ensuring that the prevailing party is not

² Shabeeb filed a motion to reconsider the denial of his suppression motion and filed a memorandum with additional bases for suppression; however, the motion was never heard and the additional arguments were not heard or decided by the trial court. CP 51, 61-63; RP 50 (COURT: "I'm going to put kind of a 20-day deadline to notify me if we're arguing the reconsideration."), *See* RP.

deprived of victory by claimed errors that he had no opportunity to address." *State v. Lazcano*, 188 Wn.App. 338, 356, 354 P.3d 233 (2015) (citing *State v. Strine*, 176 Wn.2d 742, 749-50, 293 P.3d 1177 (2013)).

An exception to this rule exists, however, for manifest errors affecting a defendant's constitutional rights. RAP 2.5(a)(3); *Hayes*, 165 Wn.App. at 514. "In order to benefit from this exception, 'the [defendant] must identify a constitutional error and show how the alleged error actually affected the [defendant]'s rights at trial,'" i.e., show that the error is manifest. *State v. Grimes*, 165 Wn.App. 172, 180, 267 P.3d 454 (2011) (alterations in original) (quoting *State v. Gordon*, 172 Wn.2d 671, 676, 260 P.3d 884 (2011)) (quoting *State v. O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d 91, 98, 217 P.3d 756 (2009)). Consequently, a defendant cannot meet his burden if he "simply assert[s] that an error occurred at trial and label[s] the error 'constitutional. . . ." *Grimes*, 165 Wn.App. at 186.

Despite raising new arguments, Shabeeb fails to address RAP 2.5(a) or make any argument as to why this Court should consider the merits of these arguments made for the first time on appeal. Br. of App. at 16-21. Consequently, this Court should decline to consider Shabeeb's new arguments pertaining to the search warrant affidavit. If, on the other hand, the Court disagrees that the newly raised arguments are waived, the merits of each argument is addressed below. I. The search warrant affidavit set forth facts and circumstances sufficient to establish a reasonable inference that evidence of criminal activity could be found in Shabeeb's vehicle.

Standard of Review

Under both the Constitution of the United States and Washington's Constitution, a search warrant may issue only upon a determination of probable cause. *State v. Thein*, 138 Wn.2d 133, 140, 977 P.2d 582 (1999). "Probable cause exists if the affidavit in support of the warrant sets forth facts and circumstances sufficient to establish a reasonable inference that the defendant is probably involved in criminal activity and that evidence of the crime can be found at the place to be searched." *Id.*

A judge exercises judicial discretion in determining whether to issue a search warrant. *State v. Vickers*, 148 Wn.2d 91, 108, 59 P.3d 58 (2002). That decision "is reviewed for abuse of discretion." *Id.* A search warrant, once issued, is entitled to "a presumption of validity" and all reviewing courts shall accord "great deference to the magistrate's determination of probable cause." *State v. Chenoweth*, 160 Wn.2d 454, 477, 158 P.3d 595 (2007); *Vickers*, 148 Wn.2d at 108; *State v. O'Connor*, 39 Wn.App 113, 123, 692 P.2d 208 (1984) ("Both the superior court and [the Court of Appeals] are required to give great weight to a magistrate's determination that probable cause exists . . ."). As a result, "[d]oubts concerning the existence of probable cause are generally resolved in favor" of the validity of the search warrant. *Vickers*, 148 Wn.2d at 108-109; *Chenoweth*, 160 Wn.2d at 477. Moreover, reviewing courts are to examine affidavits in support of a search warrant in "a commonsense, not a hypertechinal manner." *State v. Ollivier*, 178 Wn.2d 813, 847, 312 P.3d 1 (2013) (citations omitted). Because at a suppression hearing on a search warrant the trial court acts in an "appellate-like capacity," a higher appellate court, while still deferring to the magistrate's determination, reviews *de novo* the "trial court's assessment of probable cause." *State v. Neth*, 165 Wn.2d 177, 182, 196 P.3d 658 (2008) (citing *State v. Chamberlin*, 161 Wn.2d 30, 40–41, 162 P.3d 389 (2007)).

Probable Cause

Probable cause requires "a nexus between criminal activity and the item to be seized, and also a nexus between the item to be seized and the place to be searched." *Thein*, 138 Wn.2d at 140. Any evidence that would be helpful in the prosecution of a crime has a sufficient nexus to that crime for the purposes of issuing a search warrant. *See Messerschmidt v. Millender*, --- U.S. ----, 132 S.Ct. 1235, 1247-49, 182 L.Ed.2d 47 (2012); *Warden, Md. Penitentiary v. Hayden*, 387 U.S. 294, 307, 87 S.Ct. 1642, 18 L.Ed.2d 782 (1967) (holding that the Fourth Amendment allows a

search for evidence when there is "probable cause . . . to believe that the evidence sought will aid in a particular apprehension or conviction"). RCW 10.79.015 supports this proposition as it provides that "[a]ny . . . magistrate, when satisfied that there is reasonable cause, may . . . issue [a] search warrant in the following cases, to wit: . . . (3) [t]o search for and seize any evidence material to the investigation or prosecution of . . . any felony." (emphasis added); see also CrR 2.3 (a warrant may be issued "to search for and seize any (1) evidence of a crime; or (2) contraband, the fruits of crime, or things otherwise criminally possessed. . . .") (emphasis added).

Furthermore, search warrants, in addition to authorizing a search for direct evidence of the crime at issue, authorize searches for evidence that may "help to establish motive," "support the bringing of additional, related charges," or "might prove helpful in impeaching [a defendant] or rebutting various defenses he could raise at trial." *Messerschmidt*, 132 S.Ct. at 1247-48. The "magistrate may infer the existence of [this type of] evidence from the facts and circumstances provided in the affidavit." *State v. Maddox*, 152 Wn.2d 499, 510-11, 98 P.3d 1199 (2004) (holding there were facts in the affidavit from which the magistrate could infer the likely presence of drug dealing paraphernalia even though the affidavit was silent as to whether the informant saw those items in the defendant's

home). Such inferences from search warrant affidavits are allowed because as the Washington Supreme Court has "often stated, the affidavit is not required to establish a prima facie case of guilt, but rather a likelihood that evidence of criminal activity will be found." *Id.* at 511 (citation omitted); *Messerschmidt*, 132 S.Ct at Fn. 7 (the issuing magistrate does not need "probable cause to believe evidence will conclusively establish a fact before permitting a search, but only probable cause . . . to believe the evidence sought will aid in a particular . . . conviction.") (citation and quotation omitted).

In making such a determination, a magistrate can take into account the "experience and expertise" of the officer who authored the search warrant affidavit as well as "where evidence is likely to be kept, based on the nature of the evidence and the type of offense." *Maddox*, at 511, 505. And while "generalizations regarding common habits of drug dealers, standing alone, cannot establish probable cause, *such generalizations may support probable cause* where a factual nexus supported by specific facts is also provided and where the generalizations are based on the affiant's experience." *Maddox*, 152 Wn.2d at 511 (emphasis added).

Additionally, generally an "alert by a trained drug dog is sufficient to establish probable cause for the presence of a controlled substance." *State v. Jackson*, 82 Wn.App 594, 606, 918 P.2d 945 (1996);

State v. Flores-Moreno, 72 Wn.App 733, 741, 866 P.2d 648 (1994); State v. Wolohan, 23 Wn.App. 813, 815, 820, 598 P.2d 421 (1979) (holding "the dog by itself provided probable cause for the warrant to issue."). A drug dog's reliability, for the purposes of establishing probable cause, can be proven by showing the dog has experience, received training, and is certified. *State v. Stanphill*, 63 Wn.App. 623, 769 P.2d 861 (1989); *Flores-Moreno*, 72 Wn.App. at 741; *Jackson*, 82 Wn.App. at 606.

While the State acknowledges that an alert from a drug dog that is trained to alert to a controlled substance that can now be legally possessed (marijuana), among other unlawful controlled substances, diminishes the probative value of its alerts in general, it should not result in the alert being excluded from the probable cause determination altogether. This is especially the case here, where all the evidence available suggested the drug dog was altering to an unlawful controlled substance as there had been a recent controlled buy in which Shabeeb had sold heroin, heroin was discovered on Shabeeb's person following his arrest, and there had been no evidence of marijuana possession. App. A at 4-7.³ A drug dog's alert is, therefore, no different than many other fallible observations that may be

³ Nor would there be a need to surreptitiously transfer marijuana from the trunk of one car to another via a locked backpack unless the amount possessed was in excess of that allowed by the law.

individually explained away but can form part of a totality of the circumstances analysis establishing probable cause.

For example, if an officer observed in plain view in a vehicle what he believed to be cocaine or what appeared to him to be heroin this observation itself, uncontroversially, would be sufficient to establish probable cause. The necessary corollary to that, however, is that though we know he is probably correct because of his training and experience, he may in fact be wrong and be observing sugar, flour, or some other noncontrolled substance similar in appearance. There is little difference in a drug dog's alert except that, because of its training and established reliability, we know that its alert takes place in a closed universe of possibilities; the drug dog *is* alerting to a controlled substance. Accordingly, the trial court correctly concluded that a "positive alert by a trained drug dog combined with other facts or circumstances suggesting criminal activity or evidence of criminal activity can be sufficient to establish probable cause." CP 50 (Conclusion of Law #2).

State v. Neth, on which Shabeeb relies, is easily distinguishable. Br. of App. at 8; 165 Wn.2d 177. There, the defendant was stopped for speeding, arrested on a warrant for driving while suspended, found with unused clear baggies in his coat pocket, and told the officer he had between \$2,500 and \$3,500 cash in his car for the purposes of paying rent.

Neth, 165 Wn.2d at 179-80. Here, Shabeeb was stopped based on probable cause for the delivery of heroin, arrested for a delivery of heroin, found with heroin on his person, observed engaging in suspicious behavior in which he placed a padlocked backpack in his trunk, and then a trained drug dog then provided a positive alert at the trunk of his car.

Consequently, the State strongly disagrees with Shabeeb's contention that "the circumstances in the instant case are far more innocuous than the circumstances in *Neth*." Br. of App. at 10. Moreover, to the extent that Shabeeb references *Neth* because a drug dog was involved, the case is inapposite on the issue as the dog sniff there was disposed of by the trial court and not raised on appeal by either the appellant or respondent. 165 Wn.2d at 181 ("But inasmuch as the trial court ruled that the magistrate should not have issued the warrant based on the dog sniff because of inadequate foundation that the dog was reliable, we conclude that the dog sniff is not before us."). For that reason it was not factored into the probable cause determination on appeal. *Id*.

In total, the search warrant affidavit was authored by a detective with a substantial amount of training and experience in drug crimes, a defendant for which probable cause already existed for the delivery of heroin and who was found in possession of heroin, and specific facts linking the defendant's drug dealing and/or drug possession to the vehicle,

which includes the suspicious behavior the detective witnessed with the backpack that was put into the trunk, the drug dogs positive alert on the trunk, and the defendant's possession of heroin while in the car. Given the ample facts in the affidavit from which a magistrate could infer the likely presence of heroin, drug paraphernalia and other evidence of criminal activity, the magistrate did not abuse its discretion in finding probable cause for the issuance of a search warrant and the trial court did not err when it denied Shabeeb's motion to suppress.

II. The search warrant affidavit established the confidential informant's reliability.

The reliability of a confidential informant is most frequently established "by a showing that the informant has previously supplied accurate, helpful information to law enforcement authorities." *State v. Lair*, 95 Wn.2d 706, 710, 630 P.2d 427 (1981); *State v. Jackson*, 102 Wn.2d 432, 437, 688 P.2d 136 (1984). "The existence of a proven 'track record' of reliability reasonably supports an inference that the informant is presently telling the truth." *Id.* Establishing the track record of an informant sufficient to establish his or her veracity is not an onerous task as general averments that an informant provided information in the past that proved accurate is sufficient. *State v. Fisher*, 92 Wn.2d 962, 964-66, 639 P.2d 743 (1982); *Aguilar v. State of Tex.*, 378 U.S. 108, 115 FN. 5, 84 S.Ct. 1509 (1964) (citing and discussing *Jones v. United States*, 362 U.S. 257, 80 S.Ct. 725, 4 L.Ed.2d 697 (1960)). On the other hand, "the mere statement that an informant is credible is not sufficient." *State v. Woodall*, 100 Wn.2d 74, 76, 666 P.2d 364 (1983) (quoting *Fisher*, 92 Wn.2d at 965) (holding that an affidavit that merely stated that the informant is "a reliable informant who has proven reliable in the past" was insufficient to establish the informant's veracity).

In *State v. Fisher*, our Supreme Court reviewed a search warrant affidavit that included the following averment concerning the reliability of a confidential informant: "The informant is reliable in that he/she has given information regarding drug trafficing (sic.) and use in the past which has proven to be true and correct." 92 Wn.2d at 964. *Fisher*, in reviewing said averment, explained:

Affiant stated that the informant had given him information proven to be true and correct in the past. While this is more than drawing the conclusion that the informant is credible and admittedly less than stating the facts as to why the past information has proven to be 'true and correct', it still is a factual statement not a conclusion of the affiant. We hold in this case that it is enough to enable a neutral magistrate to determine if the informant is credible.

Id. at 965. *Fisher* found "substantial authority" for the proposition that "general allegations such as those before us are sufficient." *Id.* at 965 (citations omitted). Specifically, *Fisher* noted that "[i]n *Aguilar* . . . the

Supreme Court . . . approved of an affidavit which it upheld in *Jones*" that "alleged that the informant 'has given information to the undersigned on previous occasion and which was correct." *Id.* at 966. *Fisher* concluded that "[t]his type of allegation informs the magistrate why the affiant believed the informant to be reliable. It states a fact and is more than a bare assertion or conclusion." *Id.*

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